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INTRODUCTION  

Defendants’ Joint Motion to Dismiss In Part the Commission’s First Amended Complaint 

(ECF 95) and supporting Memorandum of Law (ECF 96) (collectively, “Motion”) should be 

denied.  In moving to dismiss part of this case on statute of limitations grounds, Defendants 

mischaracterize or ignore the plain language of 28 U.S.C. § 2462 and controlling case law, 

instead urging a strawman analysis that re-litigates the Commission’s adjudication procedures, 

rather than addressing the proper issue before the Court: when did the Commission’s claim first 

accrue?   

The present cause of action is timely.  The Federal Power Act (“FPA”), 16 U.S.C.  

§ 791a et seq., requires the Commission to undertake a proceeding to adjudicate and impose 

penalties.  It is long settled law in the majority of circuits that where an administrative 

proceeding is required, the agency must commence that proceeding within five years of the 

conduct.  See United States v. Meyer, 808 F.2d 912 (1st Cir. 1987).1  The Commission’s order to 

show cause proceeding was commenced within five years of the violations and, therefore, 

satisfies § 2462.  Having conducted the required administrative proceeding, a new five-year 

statute of limitations applies to an action in federal district court for the review and enforcement 

of the administratively-assessed penalty order.  Thus, the present action “first accrued” 60 days 

1 See, e.g., 3M Co. v. Browner, 17 F.3d 1453 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (citing Meyer in holding that  
§ 2462 applies to administrative proceedings); SEC v. Mohn, 465 F.3d 647 (6th Cir. 2006) 
(following Meyer); United States Dep’t of Labor v. Old Ben Coal Co., 676 F.2d 259 (7th Cir. 
1982) (similar to Meyer); United States v. Godbout-Bandal, 232 F.3d 637 (8th Cir. 2000) 
(following Meyer); Atl. States Legal Found. v. Al Tech Specialty Steel Corp., 635 F. Supp. 284 
(N.D.N.Y. 1986) (similar to Meyer); United States v. Great Am. Veal, Inc., 998 F. Supp. 416 
(D.N.J. 1998) (following Meyer); United States v. Sacks, No. C10-534RAJ, 2011 WL 6883740 
(W.D. Wash. Dec. 28, 2011) (following Meyer); In re Donohoo, 243 B.R. 139 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 
1999) (following Meyer).
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of Circuits, where—as here—an agency’s statute requires it to “assess [a] penalty, by order,” 

before being able to bring an action to enforce the penalty, the “claim for ‘enforcement’ of an 

administrative penalty cannot possibly ‘accrue’ until there is a penalty to be enforced.”  Meyer, 

808 F.2d at 914, 916 (“Outside of the Fifth Circuit, no court has ever held that, in a case where 

an antecedent administrative judgment is a statutory prerequisite to the maintenance of a civil 

enforcement action, the limitations period on a recovery suit runs from the date of the underlying 

violation as opposed to the date on which the penalty was administratively imposed.  All of the 

analogous authority appears to concur with the general rule that ‘[i]f disputes are subject to 

mandatory administrative proceedings [before judicial action may be taken], then the claim does 

not accrue until their conclusion.”) (footnote and citations omitted); see also, Franks v. Ross, 313 

F.3d 184, 195 (4th Cir. 2002) (controversy relating to agency action is not ripe until the agency 

action is final). 

Neither Meyer, nor the long line of cases adopting it, require this Court to review the 

mechanics of the agency assessment proceedings; rather, it is “the language of the statute, not . . . 

the nature of the administrative proceedings” that determines when a claim accrues for purposes 

of § 2462.  United States v. Worldwide Indus. Enters., Inc., 220 F. Supp. 3d 335, 344 (E.D.N.Y. 

2016) (citing Old Ben Coal, 676 F.2d at 261; Mohn, 465 F.3d at 653–54; Godbout–Bandal, 232 

F.3d at 639). 

Although Defendants attempt to ground their argument in the text of § 2462 and FPA 

§ 31(d), Def. Mem. at 1-3, a simple reading of these statutes within the context of Meyer makes 

plain that the Commission’s assessment proceeding is precisely the type of assessment 

proceeding contemplated by Meyer and its progeny.  Because the FPA does not permit the 

Commission to bring suit unless and until “the civil penalty has not been paid within 60 calendar 
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day per violation.  16 U.S.C. § 825o-1.  With respect to those penalties, FPA § 316A, 16 U.S.C. 

§ 825o-1(b), provides that: 

Such penalty shall be assessed by the Commission, after notice and opportunity 
for public hearing, in accordance with the same provisions as are applicable under 
section 31(d) in the case of civil penalties assessed under section 31.  In 
determining the amount of a proposed penalty, the Commission shall take into 
consideration the seriousness of the violation and the efforts of such person to 
remedy the violation in a timely manner. 

FPA § 31(d), 16 U.S.C. § 823b(d)(1) states the means by which the Commission provides 

notice of the proposed penalty and the available procedures for the “hearing.”  Regardless of 

which hearing procedures are elected, the FPA requires the Commission to “assess [the] penalty, 

by order.”  Compare FPA § 31(d)(2)(A), 16 U.S.C. § 823b(d)(2)(A) and FPA § 31(d)(3)(A), 16 

U.S.C. § 823b(d)(3)(A).  Where, as here, Defendants do not pay the penalty, “within 60 calendar 

days after the assessment order has been made . . . the Commission shall institute an action in the 

appropriate district court of the United States for an order affirming the assessment of the civil 

penalty.”  FPA § 31(d)(3)(B), 16 U.S.C. § 823b(d)(3)(B). 

These statutory prerequisites must be met before the Commission has the “right to bring 

an action.” Old Ben Coal, 676 F.2d at 261; see also Gabelli, 568 U.S. at 448 (a claim accrues 

when there is a “complete and present cause of action”); Meyer, 808 F.2d at 914 (“no suit to 

recover a civil penalty can be mounted . . .  unless and until the penalty has first been assessed 

administratively”).  Indeed, if the Commission were to attempt to file a complaint in district 

court seeking penalties for an FPA violation before meeting the above-described requirements, 
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the Commission’s claim would not be ripe.  Texas v. United States, 523 U.S. 296, 300 (1998) (a 

matter is unripe if it hinges on “contingent future events”).2

That the above described procedures constitute necessary prerequisites is clear from 

recent case law.  In 2017, the Fifth Circuit held that a challenge to FERC’s jurisdiction over 

alleged violations of the Natural Gas Act (“NGA”), whose penalty assessment provisions 

parallel, in relevant part, those of the FPA, was not ripe because the Commission had not yet 

completed the statutorily required “hearing.”  TOTAL Gas & Power N. Am., Inc. v. FERC, 859 

F.3d 325, 340 (5th Cir. 2017), petition for cert. filed (U.S. Jan. 9, 2018) (No. 17-975).  The 

concurrence to that opinion was even more explicit on this key issue, noting that “no penalty can 

be said to have been ‘assessed’ until the conclusion of all FERC proceedings.”  Id.   

The District of Massachusetts held similarly in the context of an FPA enforcement action, 

explaining that “FERC could not have brought this action without first completing its 

adjudication.”  FERC v. Silkman, 177 F. Supp. 3d 683, 700 (D. Mass. 2016).3  Therefore, “[b]y 

initiating formal proceedings within five years of the alleged violation, FERC complied with 

§ 2462.  After those proceedings reached their conclusions, FERC’s claims for the enforcement 

of civil penalties in federal court ripened.  FERC then had five years within which to bring those 

enforcement actions.”  Id. at 700-01. 

2 These contingent future events would include whether the Commission, as opposed to its 
Office of Enforcement, determined a violation had occurred, the result of the statutorily required 
analysis of the severity of that violation, and whether the wrongdoer timely paid the assessed 
penalty (i.e., within the 60-day window). 
3 Concurrent with this order, the Silkman case was transferred to the District of Maine.  
Memorandum and Order Regarding Transfer, FERC v. Silkman, et al., No. 1:13-CV-13054-
DPW (D. Mass. Apr. 11, 2016).  Cross-motions for summary judgment are currently pending.  
FERC v. Silkman, No. 1:16-CV-00205-JAW. 
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proposition” that “a claim for ‘enforcement’ of an administrative penalty cannot possibly 

‘accrue’ until there is a penalty to be enforced.”  Id., see also Crown Coat Front Co. v. United 

States, 386 U.S. 503, 515 (1967) (court cannot review a decision “which has not yet been 

made”). 

Though Defendants imply otherwise, the Meyer Court did not evaluate or place any 

requirements on the sufficiency of a “proceeding” for purposes of § 2462.  Compare Def. Mem. 

at 20-22 with Meyer, 808 F.2d at 922.  While the First Circuit contrasted the administrative 

adjudication required in Meyer with mere decisions to prosecute in other cases, the critical factor 

was not that it was an adjudication, but that it was a statutory prerequisite to filing in court. 

The court in Worldwide recently addressed this very issue in determining when the 

statute of limitations accrued where the agency conducted a paper hearing under the Federal 

Communications Act, similar to that provided under FPA § 31(d)(3).  The Worldwide Court 

found the defendant’s “reliance on the nature of the administrative proceeding is misplaced,” 

because, “[i]n Meyer, the court did not decide the limitations issue based on the adjudicatory 

nature of the EAA [Export Administration Act] proceeding but on ‘[t]he phraseology of 28 

U.S.C. § 2462, its juxtaposition and interrelationship with the mechanics of statutes like the 

EAA, the better-reasoned caselaw, and policy concerns (to the extent appropriate).’”  Worldwide, 

220 F. Supp. 3d at 344 (citing Meyer, 808 F.2d at 922).  The Worldwide Court noted that the 

other courts to have addressed this issue “have focused on the language of the statute, not on the 

nature of the administrative proceedings.”  Id. (citing Old Ben Coal, 676 F.2d at 261; Mohn, 465 

F.3d at 653–54; Godbout–Bandal, 232 F.3d at 639).  The Court concluded that “even had the 

First Circuit relied heavily on the adjudicatory nature of the proceedings, such reliance was not 

necessary after it concluded that the statutory language was ‘susceptible to but a single 
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reasonable reading,’ because the Supreme Court has made clear that where ‘the words of the 

statute are unambiguous, the judicial inquiry is complete.’”  Id.  

Meyer has been applied by the majority of courts, including by the District of 

Massachusetts in Silkman, where, in a FERC penalty enforcement and review action, the Court 

rejected precisely the same arguments Defendants make here.  Applying Meyer, the Silkman

Court evaluated FERC’s show cause proceeding and found that it was an “adjudicatory 

administrative proceeding” and “significantly more than a prosecutorial determination.”  

Silkman, 177 F. Supp. 3d at 700.5  The Silkman Court observed that “[f]or the present claims to 

come into existence, several preconditions [under the FPA] had to be met”:  (1) “FERC was 

required to give notice of the proposed penalty to the Respondents as required by FPA Section 

31(d)(1),” which it did when it issued the show cause orders; (2) “FERC was required to issue a 

penalty assessment order, which it did . . . after receiving Respondents’ election”; and (3) “[o]nly 

sixty days after that, if the penalty remained unpaid, could FERC bring suit.”  Id. at 699.  

Therefore, under the plain language of FPA § 31(d)(3), the Court concluded that “FERC could 

not have brought this action without first completing its adjudication,” and that “[b]y initiating 

formal proceedings within five years of the alleged violation[s], FERC complied with Section 

2462.”  Id. at 700. 

The same rule should apply here.  The Commission could not have brought suit against 

Defendants without first completing the necessary administrative adjudication required by the 

5 The Court rejected the argument that an FPA penalty assessment order is a mere prosecutorial 
determination, explaining that “[t]he Commission made extensive findings of facts and applied 
the law to those facts.  It did not merely suggest penalties to be sought later; it ordered 
Respondents to pay those penalties to the United States Treasury.  That the statutory scheme 
makes the Commission’s determinations only the first step in a legal process does not strip those 
determinations of their content and shrink them into the equivalent of a ‘charging letter.’  FERC 
did more than decide to bring suit.  It conducted an adjudication.”  Id. 
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unconvincing,” concluding instead that “[a] critical examination of 28 U.S.C. § 2462, its 

relationship to the penalty assessment and enforcement mechanisms of the [statute at issue], the 

relevant caselaw, and the broader policies which undergird statutes of limitations, leads us to an 

opposite result.”  Meyer, 808 F.2d at 913.  Specifically, the Meyer Court was concerned that 

were it to adopt the holding in Core, that the five-year statute of limitations “runs from the date 

of the predicate violation, rather than from the date of the administrative assessment of the 

sanction,” then it would “create[] a wretched sort of anomaly” because “the statute of limitations 

would have expired before the right to sue arose.”  Id.  Further, as a practical matter, under Core, 

“[a] suspected violator would . . . have considerable incentive to employ the available procedures 

to work delay” during the administrative proceeding, to prevent the agency from timely bringing 

suit in court.  Id.6

Since it was issued in 1987, the vast majority of courts in judicial circuits around the 

country have adopted Meyer, some in direct repudiation of Core.  See, supra n.1; see also 

Donohoo, 243 B.R. at 141-142.  The only case outside the Fifth Circuit that Defendants cite as 

having followed the decision in Core is Barclays which, as discussed below, is neither 

precedential nor persuasive.   

Perhaps more importantly, Congress explicitly rejected the reasoning of Core when 

passing amendments to the Export Administration Act, the statute at issue in Meyer.  See H.R. 

Rep. No. 180, 99th Cong., 1st Sess. 64 (1985).  In a report accompanying the amendments, the 

Conference Committee said:  

The intent of the committee of conference is that the [agency] must bring its 
administrative case within 5 years from the date the violation occurred.  
Thereafter, if it is necessary for the Government to seek to enforce collection of 

6 We note here, for example, Defendants requested and received multiple extensions throughout 
the investigation and subsequent administrative adjudication.
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the civil penalty, the complaint must be filed in Federal court within 5 years from 
the date the penalty was due, but not paid.  Any other interpretation would have 
the [agency] discover, investigate, prosecute, and file a complaint in U.S. District 
Court to collect the penalty imposed, but not paid, in the administrative 
proceeding all within 5 years from the date of the violation.  In many instances  
. . . such a task would be impossible. 

This Court should be reluctant to become the first court in the Fourth Circuit to endorse 

Core, thereby joining the clear minority of courts on this issue, especially when there is a good 

reason to believe that it does not reflect the will of Congress. 

2.        Gabelli is inapplicable where, as here, an agency’s assessment of a penalty 

by order is a prerequisite to filing suit.  Defendants’ contention that Gabelli “broadly sweeps 

away FERC’s position,” does not withstand scrutiny.  Def. Mem. at 3.  The question in Gabelli

was whether or not the so-called “discovery rule” applied to matters where the SEC sought to 

impose civil penalties for fraud under the Investment Advisors Act (“IAA”).  Gabelli, 568 U.S. 

at 449.  Under the IAA, unlike under the governing portions of the FPA, the SEC is authorized to 

file an action in district court “whenever it shall appear” that someone is violating or has violated 

the IAA, and the court shall determine in the first instance whether the conduct at issue violated 

the IAA (i.e., as opposed to requiring an order to that effect from the agency).  See 15 U.S.C.  

§ 80b–9.     

The Supreme Court found that the “discovery rule” applies in cases for damages for fraud 

(because it may take some time for the plaintiff to discover the injury necessary to perfect his 

claim) but not in cases for penalties for fraud, because the SEC is capable of investigating fraud 

irrespective of damages.  Gabelli, 568 U.S. at 454.  

Gabelli does not support Defendants’ Motion for two key reasons.  First, in contrast with 

Gabelli, the Commission has never argued that the “discovery rule” applies to Defendants’ 

violations.  Second, unlike the SEC in Gabelli, the Commission did not have the right to file a 
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complaint in this court seeking penalties “whenever it should appear” that Defendants had 

committed a violation.  On the contrary, the Commission had no right to file until after multiple 

statutory predicates had been satisfied.   

Three courts have recently considered arguments in which litigants, similar to Defendants 

here, attempted to dismiss actions via citation to Gabelli.  Two of those three rejected those 

arguments—Silkman and Worldwide.  Criticizing the invocation of Gabelli in the FPA § 31(d)(3) 

context as “somewhat facile and superficial,” the Silkman Court found that Gabelli neither 

superseded Meyer nor was relevant because “Gabelli did not concern a case in which 

administrative proceedings preceded an action in federal court; there, the SEC sued directly in 

court.”  Silkman, 177 F. Supp. 3d at 699.  The Worldwide Court likewise refused to dismiss a 

similar action based on Gabelli because “Gabelli concerned a statute that did not require an 

agency to assess a forfeiture before the government could file suit.”  Worldwide, 220 F.Supp.3d 

at 345 n.3.  The third decision, Barclays, was wrongly decided for reasons discussed below.    

3.        Defendants’ reliance on Barclays is misplaced.  Defendants rely on an 

unreported decision in FERC v. Barclays Bank PLC to buttress their obvious misreading of 

Gabelli.  Def. Mem. at 13.  Barclays, which focused on the interpretation of a tolling agreement, 

is inconsistent with the weight of case law and was incorrectly decided.  The Barclays Court did 

not consider relevant case law on the applicability of the statute of limitations where, as here, the 

Commission is statutorily-required to assess a penalty by order before it can bring an action in 

court to enforce that penalty.  See generally FERC v. Barclays Bank PLC, No. 2:13-CV-02093-

TLN-DB, 2017 WL 4340258 (E.D. Cal. Sept. 29, 2017).  Ignoring Meyer, the Barclays Court 

relied heavily on Gabelli and 3M Co, which it also misconstrued.  Id. at *8-*9.  Contrary to 

Barclays, 3M did not hold that an agency must conduct a formal administrative adjudication 

Ecug!4<26.ex.11563.OJN!!!Fqewogpv!;;!!!Hkngf!14032029!!!Rcig!29!qh!45!RcigKF$!2;84



14 

before an Administrative Law Judge to comply with § 2462.  3M, 17 F.3d 1453, 1457 (D.C. Cir. 

1994).  Rather, like Meyer, 3M held that where an agency commences a proceeding to assess a 

civil penalty, that proceeding satisfies § 2462.  Id. (“Given the reasons why we have statutes of 

limitations, there is no discernible rationale for applying § 2462 when the penalty action or 

proceeding is brought in a court, but not when it is brought in an administrative agency.”)  Thus, 

3M stands for the same proposition as Meyer, that the first statute of limitations in this case was 

met when the Commission began an “assessment proceeding” to “impose civil penalties” against 

Defendants.  Id. at 1459 (“Because assessment proceedings under TSCA seek to impose civil 

penalties, they are proceedings for the ‘enforcement’ of penalties and § 2462 thus applies.”) 

(footnote omitted). 

In determining the question of whether the Commission conducted a proceeding when it 

assessed a penalty by order pursuant to FPA § 31(d)(3), the Barclays court put inordinate weight 

on one case—Marshall v. Jerrico.  See, Barclays, 2017 WL 4340258, *11-14 (citing Marshall v. 

Jerrico, 446 U.S. 238 (1980)).  In so doing, the Barclays court mis-analogized the role of the 

Employment Standards Administration’s assistant regional administrator under the Fair Labor 

Standards Act (“FLSA”) to that of the Commission under the FPA.  Under the FLSA’s penalty 

scheme, the assistant regional administrator makes a penalty determination prior to an 

opportunity for hearing.  Under the FPA, by contrast, the Commission makes a penalty 

determination only after an opportunity for hearing.  Unlike the assistant regional administrator, 

who “performs no judicial or quasi-judicial functions,” and “rules on no disputed factual or legal 

questions,” the Commission is invested with precisely such a role under the FPA and performs 

this role in issuing civil penalty orders.  Compare Marshall, 446 U.S. at 247-250, with FPA §§ 

308, 309, 16 U.S.C. §§ 825g, 825h.  The assistant regional administrator is much more like the 
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Office of Enforcement, whose role in “assessing a violation is akin to that of a prosecutor or civil 

plaintiff” under FERC’s rules for assessing civil penalties.  Id.  By mis-applying the Marshall

Court’s discussion of the administrator’s prosecutorial function to the Commission’s statutory 

duty to make a formal finding of liability and assess a corresponding penalty under the FPA, the 

Barclays Court undermined the second of only two foundations underlying its decision. 

The Barclays Court further erred in focusing almost exclusively on the distinction 

between the two penalty assessment regimes provided under FPA § 31(d).  That distinction may 

illuminate the proper role of this Court in reviewing a civil penalty assessment order, but it does 

*)22*& 2- #%%0&11 2(& /3&12)-, .0&1&,2&% (&0& 6 4(&2(&0 2(& "-++)11)-,51 .0-$&&%),' 4#1 

required by the FPA and met the requirements of § 2462.  The clear answer under Meyer, 3M, 

and the many other cases adopting the same view is, “yes;” nothing in Barclays or the cases 

underpinning that decision changes that.   

4.        The Walsh-Healy Act cases relied upon by Defendants are distinguishable.

Defendants place significant weight on a line of cases arising under the Walsh-Healey 

Act, suggesting that these cases stand for the proposition that “agency proceedings, though 

authorized, did not stop the statute of limitations clock.”  Def. Mem. at 5, 17-19.  This entire line 

of cases is readily distinguishable (and has been distinguished by the Supreme Court) because 

under Walsh-Healey, “the government was at liberty to file suit without any antecedent 

administrative proceeding.” Meyer, 808 F.2d at 917; accord United States v. Lovknit Mfg. Co., 

189 F.2d 454, 458 (5th Cir. 1951) (“the Act in plain language give[s] the Attorney General alone 

the authority to sue upon a breach,” (emphasis added) and any proceeding undertaken by the 

Secretary of Labor “is not a prerequisite to the Attorney General’s suit”); and see, Crown Coat, 

386 U.S. at 516-17 (distinguishing precedent under the Walsh-Healey Act).  Here, by contrast, 
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FERC was not at liberty to file suit until after a penalty had been assessed by order following 

notice and opportunity for public hearing. 

           5.          The Commission’s construction of the statute would not “allow the 

government an unlimited period of time to bring a court action.”  Defendants suggest that 

“[a]ccepting FERC’s view [of Section 2462] would turn the statute of limitations into an ever-

receding horizon,” such that once a show cause order were issued, there would be “no limitation 

on what happens next.”  Def. Mem. at 11.  Because there are no express sanctions if FERC fails 

to act “promptly,” Defendants claim that “the threat of court action to impose civil penalties 

could hang over the potential defendant forever.”  Id.  Defendants are wrong.  Under FPA 

§ 31(d)(3), not only must FERC initiate district court proceedings within five years of a penalty 

assessment order, but it must issue that penalty assessment order “promptly.”  Moreover, the 

Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) requires that, “within a reasonable time, each agency 

shall proceed to conclude a matter presented to it.”  5 U.S.C. § 555(b).  This directive is 

judicially enforceable pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706(1), which authorizes courts to “compel agency 

action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed.”  See Telecomm. Research & Action Center 

v. FCC, 750 F.2d 70, 80 (D.C. Cir. 1984) (“TRAC”) (enumerating six factors other courts have 

subsequently applied).  As in TRAC itself, requests for relief under § 706(1) are not infrequently 

presented together with a request for mandamus pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1651.  See Southern 

Utah Wilderness Alliance, 542 U.S. 55, 63 (2004) (Section 706(1) “carried forward the 

traditional practice . . . when judicial review was achieved through use of  . . . writs of 

mandamus”).  

Three things are therefore clear:  First, between the FPA’s directive that a penalty 

assessment be made “promptly” and the APA’s authorization to compel agency action 
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The FPA’s mandate that the penalty must be assessed by order is further evidence that 

the FPA requires a proceeding.  16 U.S.C. § 823b(d); see also Writer’s Guild, Inc. v. FCC, 423 

F. Supp. 1064, 1079 (C.D. Cal. 1976), vacated on other grounds, 609 F.2d 356 (9th Cir. 1979) 

(“At the very least, the term ‘order’ implies a formal agency mandate issued at the culmination

of some regulatory agency proceeding.”) (emphasis added).  Under long-standing administrative 

law principles, agency processes ending in an “order” are “proceedings” or “adjudications.”  The 

APA is instructive in this regard.  It, like the FPA, recognizes two types of adjudication:  formal 

“on the record” adjudications, 5 U.S.C. § 554(a), 556 (2012), and informal adjudications, Id. § 

555.  Under the APA, an “agency proceeding” means “an agency process as defined by 

paragraphs (5), (7), and (9) of this section.”  Id. § 551(12).  Paragraph (7), in turn, defines 

“adjudication” as “agency process for the formulation of an order.”  Id. § 551(7).  An “order” 

means “the whole or part of a final disposition . . . of an agency in a matter other than rule 

making, but including licensing.”  Id. § 551(6).  Under these principles, a proceeding or 

adjudication occurred here; FPA § 31(d)(3) required the Commission to formulate a penalty by 

order, which represented the final disposition of the agency in this matter.7

7 The procedures FERC employed, see First Am. Pet. (ECF 93) at ¶¶ 74-83, exceeded the 
minimal requirements for informal agency adjudication, which need not mimic those of trial 
court.  See Pension Ben. Guar. Corp. v. LTV Corp., 496 U.S. 633, 655 (1990); Kobach v. U.S. 
Election Assistance Comm., 772 F.3d 1183, 1197 n. 10 (10th Cir. 2014) (“Unless a statute 
requires otherwise, agencies have ‘flexibility’ to decide that a full evidentiary hearing is 
unnecessary in an informal adjudication.”).  These standards are consistent with the provisions of 
FPA § 308(b), in which Congress expressly authorized the Commission to promulgate rules of 
practice and procedure to govern all “hearings, investigations, and proceedings under this Act” 
and, in so doing, expressly stated that “the technical rules of evidence need not be applied” and 
“[n]o informality in any hearing, investigation, or proceeding or in any manner of taking 
testimony shall invalidate any order, decision, rule, or regulation issued under the authority of 
this Act.”  16 U.S.C. § 825g (2017). 
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Furthermore, the Commission has concluded that FPA § 31(d)(3) requires an adjudicative 

paper hearing before it can apply the statutory criteria and assess a civil penalty.  Statement of 

Administrative Policy Regarding the Process for Assessing Civil Penalties, 117 FERC ¶ 61,317 

(2006).  And, the Commission’s construction of its own organic statute as requiring a proceeding 

as a prerequisite to imposing penalties under FPA § 31(d)(3) is entitled to deference.  Nat’l 

Cable & Telecomm. Ass’n v. Brand X Internet Serv., 545 U.S. 967, 980 (2005) (“If a statute is 

ambiguous, and if the implementing agency’s construction is reasonable, Chevron requires a 

federal court to accept the agency’s construction of the statute, even if the agency’s reading 

differs from what the court believes is the best statutory interpretation.”).  Thus, Defendants’ 

claim that the procedures employed by the Commission to assess penalties under FPA § 31(d)(3) 

are ultra vires because they are “extra-statutory,” Def. Mem. at 3-4, 10-13, is baseless.  Cf.

TOTAL, 859 F.3d at 338 (finding language in the NGA identical to that in FPA § 316A (“after 

notice and opportunity for public hearing”) “affords FERC wide latitude to dictate the terms of 

the civil penalty process.”).  What controls for purposes of § 2462 is the binary question of 

whether a proceeding occurred, not which contours of that proceeding were or were not required 

under the governing statute.  3M Co., 17 F.3d at 1458-59 (administrative assessment proceedings 

that seek to impose civil penalties “are proceedings for the ‘enforcement’ of penalties and § 2462 

thus applies.”).  A proceeding did occur here.   

2.         The Order to Show Cause Proceeding was a contested adjudication.  

Several other factors weigh in favor of finding that the proceeding below was sufficient for  

§ 2462 purposes.  First, the Commission’s long standing regulations define the Commission’s 

order to show cause process as a proceeding.  Specifically, an order to show cause commences a 

“contested” i.e., adversarial, “on-the-record proceeding.”  18 C.F.R. § 385.2201(c)(1)(i).  The 
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very first factor that the D.C. Circuit in 3M looked to in deciding that the Environmental 

Protection Agency’s penalty assessment process constituted an “action, suit, or proceeding” was 

how the agency regulations described the process.  3M, 17 F.3d at 1456 (“In this case, EPA’s 

regulations describe the agency’s process for assessing civil penalties as a ‘proceeding.’”). 

Second, the Natural Gas Policy Act (“NGPA”)—which contains a de novo review 

provision identical to that of FPA § 31(d)(3)—is explicit in having the statutory notice (i.e., the 

order to show cause) satisfy the statute of limitations.8

Finally, a FERC order to show cause does not prejudge or adjudicate any issue, but 

instead frames the issues that will be decided in the contested adjudication before the 

Commission.  18 C.F.R. § 385.209(b) (“A notice of examination or an order to show cause will 

contain a statement of the matters about which the Commission is inquiring, and a statement of 

the authority under which the Commission is acting.  The statement is tentative and sets forth 

issues to be considered by the Commission.”); see also, Hunter v. FERC, 569 F. Supp. 2d 12, 17 

(D.D.C. 2008), aff’d, 348 Fed. Appx. 592 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (Order to show cause does not make 

any findings or adjudicate anything).  Participants in such proceedings contest factual and legal 

issues and are forbidden from ex parte contacts with the Commission itself, which acts as a 

neutral decision-maker and fact-finder.  See 18 C.F.R. § 385.2201 (Ex Parte) and § 385.2002 

(separation of functions); see also Withrow v. Larkin, 421 U.S. 35, 47 (1975) (rejecting the 

“contention that the combination of investigative and adjudicative functions necessarily creates 

8 The NGPA is not subject to the five-year statute of limitations in § 2462; rather, it has its own, 
shorter statute of limitations.  15 U.S.C. § 3414(b)(6)(D).  The Barclays court perfunctorily 
distinguished the NGPA on the grounds that the NGPA does not provide two alternative penalty 
assessment procedures, and that it contains its own statute of limitations.  Barclays, 2017 WL 
4340258 at *14-15.  It did not explain why those distinctions should make a difference.  They 
should not. 
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timely in its entirety.  The same statutory provision that grants this court jurisdiction over the 

cause of action sets forth two mandatory waiting periods.  The cause of action cannot have 

accrued before those periods ended.  See Jones v. Calvert Group, Ltd., 551 F.3d 297, 301 (4th 

Cir. 2011) (citing Vance v. Whirlpool Corp., 707 F.2d 483, 486-89 (4th Cir. 1983)).  As a result, 

the earliest the claim could have accrued is 86 days after the violations, allowing the 26 days 

Defendants took to make their procedural election and the 60 days for them to make payment – 

that is, the claim could not have accrued before August 26, 2010.   

Moreover, even if the Court accepted Defendants’ contention that the claims accrued as 

of the date of the violations, it should toll the statute of limitations for the mandatory waiting 

periods.  Cf. Sierra Club v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., 834 F.2d 1517, 1524 (9th Cir. 1987) (“[I]n 

citizen enforcement actions the five-year statute of limitations period [of 28 U.S.C. 2462] is 

tolled sixty days before the filing of the complaint, to accommodate the statutorily-mandated 

sixty-day notice period.”); Atl. States Legal Found. v. Al Tech Specialty Steel Corp., 635 F. 

Supp. 284, 288 (N.D.N.Y. 1986) (“[I]f prior resort to an administrative body is a prerequisite to 

judicial review, the running of the statute of limitations period [in 28 U.S.C. § 2462] should be 

tolled during the administrative proceeding”) (citation omitted).  The Initial Petition was filed 

before that and is therefore timely, even under the incorrect view urged by Defendants.  To hold 

otherwise would be to enlarge this Court’s jurisdiction beyond that granted to it by statute and to 

invert the rule that statutes of limitation are to be construed strictly in favor of the United States 

by, in effect, shortening the applicable statute of limitations from five years, to four years and 

279 days.  That should not be done in the absence of clearly-expressed Congressional intent. 
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however, complain that FPA § 31(d)(3)(B) does not make specific reference to equitable relief in 

its grant of jurisdiction to this court.  Def. Mem. at 24, 27.  However, such an express grant of 

equitable authority is not required.  The Supreme Court has made clear that “[u]nless otherwise 

provided by statute, all the inherent equitable powers of the District Court are available for the 

proper and complete exercise” of the court’s jurisdiction.  Porter v. Warner Holding Co., 328 

U.S. 395, 398 (1946).  And, in cases like this one where “the public interest is involved . . . those 

equitable powers assume an even broader and more flexible character than when only a private 

controversy is at stake.”  Id.  The Court continued, stating that this Court’s inherent equitable 

powers can “not be denied or limited in the absence of a clear and valid legislative command.”  

Id.   

FPA § 31(d)(3)(B) does not, by its terms, or by any “necessary and inescapable 

inference,” limit the Court’s inherent authority to fashion appropriate equitable relief in this 

matter, and the lack of an explicit reference to “disgorgement” in the FPA is, therefore, of no 

import.  See Warner Holding, 328 U.S. at 398 (non-explicit limitation of power must be by 

“necessary and inescapable inference”). 
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Commission met the statute of limitations set out in 

§ 2462, both in timely beginning the order to show cause proceeding and timely filing the instant 

action.  Moreover, this Court has authority to enforce the Commission’s disgorgement order, 

which was also timely filed.  Defendants’ motion should, therefore, be denied. 
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